Visual learning in social insects: from simple associations to higher-order problem solving

7

Martin Giurfa

Contents

Abstract		109
1.	Introduction	110
2.	Visual conditioning of bees	111
3.	Attention and experience-dependent modulation of visual learning	113
4.	Complex forms of visual learning (that may not be so complex)	118
4.1	Visually-based recognition of individuals in wasps	118

4.2	Learning by observation in bumblebees	119
4.3	'Symbolic matching to sample' and other	
	forms of conditional discrimination in bees	
	and wasps	120
5.	Non-elemental visual learning	122
5.1	Categorization of visual stimuli in honeybees	123
5.2	Rule learning in honeybees	126
Conclusion		129
References		130

Abstract

Visual learning allows the acquisition of new environmental information, which in turn allows adaptive responses when viewing already experienced events again. This capacity is crucial in contexts such as search for food, partner recognition, navigation and defense against potential enemies. It admits different levels of complexity, from simple associative link formation between a visual stimulus (e. g. a specific color) and the consequence of it (e. g. reward or punishment), to more sophisticated performances such as categorization of objects (e. g. animal vs. non-ani-

Martin Giurfa

Université Paul Sabatier – Toulouse III Centre de Recherches sur la Cognition Animale CNRS 118 Route de Narbonne 31062 Toulouse cedex 4, France e-mail: giurfa@cict.fr

mal) or apprehending abstract rules applicable to unknown visual objects (e.g. "larger than" or "on top of"). In principle, mastering categories and rules allows flexible responses beyond simple forms of learning. Not surprisingly, higherorder forms of visual learning have been mainly studied in vertebrates with larger brains, while the study of simple visual learning has been restricted to animals with small brains such as insects. However, this dichotomy has recently changed, as research on visual learning in social insects (mainly bees and wasps) has yielded surprising results in terms of the sophistication of the tasks that can be mastered. In parallel, the accessibility and small size of insect brains have allowed the characterization of some neural mechanisms of visual learning. Here I review a spectrum of visual learning forms in social insects, from color and pattern learning, visual attention, and top-down image recognition to

inter-individual recognition, conditional discrimination, category learning and rule extraction. I discuss the necessity and sufficiency of simple associations to account for complex visual learning and profit from the extensive knowledge on brain organization in insects to discuss neural mechanisms underlying these visual performances.

1.

Introduction

Visual learning refers to an individual's capacity to acquire experience-based information pertaining to visual stimuli so that adaptive responses can be produced when viewing such stimuli again. This capacity, which is present in almost all living animals capable of seeing, intervenes in contexts as diverse as the search for food, partner recognition, navigation and orientation, and defense against potential enemies. It admits different levels of complexity as it varies from the establishment of a simple associative link connecting a visual stimulus (e.g. a specific color) and the consequences that result (e.g. a reward or a punishment), to more sophisticated performances such as learning to categorize distinct objects (e.g. animal vs. nonanimal) or apprehending abstract rules applicable to unknown visual objects (e.g. "larger than," "on top of" or "inside of).

The first situation, the establishment of unequivocal, unambiguous links between a visual target and its outcome, constitutes a case of elemental learning. What is learned for a color is valid only for that color and not for different ones. Red light means not crossing the street while green light means that crossing is allowed. In this context, however, blue light, does not mean anything. In contrast, learning about categories and rules constitutes a case of non-elemental learning, which is not based on one stimulus – one consequential relationship, as an appropriate response can be then transferred to novel, unknown stimuli for which the subject has no personal experience. We are able to categorize a dodo as a bird, or as an animal, even if we have never observed one of these extinct creatures. Similarly, if trained to classify objects based on a size rule (e. g. 'larger than') we would be able to respond appropriately to unknown objects just by considering their size relative to each other. In these cases, the subject's response is flexible and relatively independent of the physical nature of the stimuli considered.

Social Hymenoptera, particularly bees (Apis sp. and Bombus sp.) and wasps (several genera), which are at the center of this article, are interesting models for the study of visual learning because in the context of their natural behavior they have to solve a diversity of visual problems of varying complexity. For instance, these insects learn and memorize the local cues characterizing the places of interest, which are essentially the hive and the food sources (Menzel 1985; Menzel et al. 1993; Zeil et al. 1996; Fauria et al. 2000, 2002). Honeybees, and to a minor extent bumblebees too, are 'flower constant'. They forage on a particular flower species as long as it offers profitable nectar and/or pollen reward (Grant 1951; Heinrich 1979; Chittka et al. 1999). This capacity is partly based on visual cues provided by flowers such as colors or patterns. Learning and memorizing the visual cues of the exploited flower through their association with nectar and/or pollen reward is what allows a bee forager tracking a particular species in the field (von Frisch 1965; Menzel 1985). Similarly, learning abilities for landmark constellations and for celestial cues used in navigation (azimuthal position of the sun, polarized light pattern of the blue sky) ensure a safe return to the nest and enhance foraging efficiency (Collett and Collett 2002; Collett et al. 2003).

Visual capacities are highly developed in social Hymenoptera, especially in those species that fly freely. Bees and wasps see the world in color (Beier and Menzel 1972; Menzel and Backhaus 1991; Chittka et al. 1992; Campan and Lehrer 2002; Dyer and Chittka 2004; Lehrer and Campan 2004, 2005; Lotto and Chittka 2005), perceive shapes and patterns (Wehner 1981; Srinivasan 1994; Giurfa and Lehrer 2001; Lehrer and Campan 2004, 2005; Dyer et al. 2005) and resolve movements with a high temporal resolution (Srinivasan et al. 1999). They implement these capacities in navigational journeys that may lead them several kilometers away from their nest to which they nevertheless return after each successful foraging trip. The complexity and richness of their natural life is therefore appealing in terms of the opportunities it offers for the study of visual learning and memory. Such an appeal would be, however, useless if these phenomena were not amenable to controlled laboratory conditions. Indeed, one of the reasons why bees and wasps constitute an attractive model for the study of visual learning resides precisely in the existence of controlled experimental methods for the study of this capacity at the individual level.

2.

Visual conditioning of bees

Visual conditioning of freely-flying honeybees (von Frisch 1914) has allowed the uncovering of the perceptual capabilities of these insects and has been used to this end for more than nine decades. The common experimental protocol exploits the fact that free-flying honeybees learn visual cues such as colors, shapes and patterns, depth and motion contrast, among others (von Frisch 1914; Wehner 1981; Giurfa and Menzel 1997; Lehrer 1997; Giurfa and Lehrer 2001) when these are presented together with a reward of sucrose solution (Fig. 1a). Each bee is individually marked by means of a color spot on its thorax or abdomen so that performances of individuals can be recorded. In general the marked bee is displaced by the experimenter towards a site (called experimental place) where it is rewarded with sucrose solution in order to promote its regular return. Such pre-training is performed without presenting the training stimuli in order to avoid uncontrolled learning. When the bee starts visiting the experimental place actively (i. e., without being displaced by the experimenter), the training stimuli are presented and the choice of the appropriate visual target rewarded with sucrose solution.

Bees have to be trained and tested individually to achieve a precise control of the experience made by each subject. It is also important to control the distance at which a choice is made because visual orientation and choice are mediated by different visual cues at different distances or angles subtended by the target (Giurfa et al. 1996; Giurfa and Menzel 1997; Giurfa and Lehrer 2001). The time between visits to the experimental place has also to be recorded as it reflects the appetitive motivation of the bee (Núñez 1982) and thus its motivation to learn. Bees coming irregularly to the experimental place are not highly motivated and their performances are therefore unreliable.

Several actions can be used to quantify the bees' choice in these experiments. Contacts (i. e. flights towards a target that end with a contact of the bee's antennae or legs with the stimulus surface) and landings on a given visual target are usually recorded. The associations built in this context can be either classical, operant or both, i. e. they may link a visual stimulus (conditioned stimulus



Fig.1 Experimental protocols for the study of visual learning and perception in honeybees. **a** *Visual appetitive conditioning of free-flying bees.* A bee marked with a colored spot on the abdomen is trained to collect sugar solution in the middle of a ring pattern. **b**, **c** *Color conditioning of the proboscis extension reflex in harnessed honeybees.* **b** A hungry honeybee immobilized in a tube extends its proboscis when its antennae are touched with a drop of sucrose solution. **c** Pairing a chromatic (green) illumination with such a reward leads to the establishment of a color – reward association that makes the bee extend the proboscis when presented with the chromatic illumination alone (see Hori et al. 2006)

or CS) and sucrose reward (unconditioned stimulus or US), the response of the animal (e.g. landing) and the US, or both, respectively. The experimental framework is nevertheless mainly operant as the bee's behavior determines whether it obtains the sucrose reinforcement or not. The same experimental method has been successfully adapted to train other freely flying social insects to a variety of visual targets (bumblebees: Dyer and Chittka 2004; Lotto and Chittka 2005; Dyer et al. 2005; solitary bees: Campan and Lehrer 2002; Menzel et al. 1988; stingless bees: Menzel et al. 1988; wasps: Beier and Menzel 1972; Lehrer and Campan 2004, 2006).

Visual conditioning of freely-flying bees presents a fundamental problem for researchers interested in the mechanistic basis of visual learning as it does not allow the study of visual learning at the cellular level. Because bees fly freely during the experiment, to simultaneously study the neural activity in visual centers in the brain so far has remained impossible. Recently, however, a protocol for visual conditioning of harnessed bees has been developed (Hori et al. 2006, 2007). It is based on pioneer studies by Kuwabara (1957) and consists in training a harnessed bee to extend its proboscis to colors (Hori et al. 2006) or visual motion cues (Hori et al. 2007) paired with sucrose solution (Fig. 1b). Hungry bees reflexively extend the proboscis when their antennae are touched with sucrose solution, the equivalent of a nectar reward. In this protocol, colors or patterns are paired with a sucrose reward to create a Pavlovian association in which the visual stimuli are the conditioned stimuli (CS) and sucrose is the unconditioned stimulus (US). With some effort (learning takes two days and acquisition levels remain relatively low at 40%), bees learn the visual task only if their antennae have been previously cut. The reasons for this apparent interference of the antennae on visual learning remain unknown but it may simply be that cutting the antennae affects the general motivation of the bee so that the sucrose reward is not as attractive as expected by the experimenter (de Brito Sanchez et al. 2008). Improving this protocol is a priority for future research on visual learning as it will allow a combination of behavioral quantification with access to the nervous system. As in honeybee olfactory learning (see Giurfa 2007 for review), the fact that the bee is immobilized while it learns allows access to the nervous system and the study of it by the application of invasive methods.

3.

Attentional and experiencedependent modulation of visual learning

The first study of bee learning and memory that used controlled protocols for characterizing individual learning and memory, employed colors as rewarding stimuli (Menzel 1967). Freely flying honeybees were trained to choose a rewarded monochromatic light and then presented with the rewarded light versus an alternative color on a horizontal plane in dual choice situations. This early study reported learning curves for different wavelengths and showed that, under the given experimental conditions, bees learned all the wavelengths after only a few learning trials. Some wavelengths, particularly 413 nm, were learned faster than others, requiring only one to three acquisition trials (Menzel 1967; but see below). This finding argued in favor of innate biases in color learning, probably reflecting the particular biological relevance of the color signals that are learned faster (Menzel 1985). Indeed, in their first foraging flight color-naïve honeybees prefer those colors that experienced bees learn faster (Giurfa et al. 1995), and preliminary findings indicate that these very colors may correspond to floral colors that are strongly associated with a profitable nectar reward (Giurfa et al. 1995).

Visual learning, as studied in these color conditioning experiments, is elemental as bees are merely presented with a single color target paired with sucrose solution. It was intended to be a fast form of learning (Menzel 1967; see above), compared, for instance, to learning of visual patterns which usually takes longer (20 or more trials). Recent studies on bumblebee and honeybee color learning (Dyer and Chittka 2004; Giurfa 2004) have, nevertheless, introduced a new twist to these conclusions. It was long thought that what an animal sees and visually learns is constrained by its perceptual machinery with little or no room for experience-dependent modulations of perception. However, studies of honeybees (Giurfa 2004; Dyer and Neumeyer 2005) and of bumblebees (Dyer and Chittka 2004) have shown that this idea is incorrect: In some cases, learning one and the same color may need few trials only but in other cases it may take more than twenty trials (Fig. 2a). The critical feature is how the bees learn the task. For instance, absolute conditioning, in which a subject is trained with a single color rewarded with sugar water, in general yields fast learning. Differential conditioning, in which the same subject has to learn to discriminate between a rewarded from a non-rewarded color, takes more trials, even if the rewarded color is the same as in absolute conditioning. When these animals are asked to discriminate between colors in a test, their performance differs dramatically. While bees trained in differential conditioning can discriminate between colors that are very similar (Fig. 2c), bees trained in absolute conditioning cannot discriminate between the same pair of colors (Fig. 2b; Giurfa 2004). Interestingly, similar results were obtained for bumblebees (Dyer and Chittka 2004) and for ants trained to discriminate between colors in a Y-maze (Camlitepe and Aksoy 2010). Differential conditioning promoted fine color discrimination while absolute conditioning did not.

Comparable results were obtained in a study on pattern learning and discrimination by honeybees (Giurfa et al. 1999). While differential conditioning results in a visual recognition strategy that uses the cues present



Fig.2 a, b, c Attention-like processes in honeybees. Performance of the free-flying bees trained with colors under absolute (one color rewarded) and differential conditioning (one color rewarded vs. a color non-rewarded). Adapted from Giurfa (2004) a Acquisition along 15 trials (mean ±S. E.; n = 15 bees for each curve). Red circles: absolute conditioning; blue circles: differential conditioning. b Performance in the tests of the group trained in absolute conditioning. Red Bar: test presenting the trained situation (ABSTr), i. e. the single color that was previously rewarded. White Bar: test presenting a novel differential situation (DIFF D_{email}), i. e. the color that was previously rewarded vs. a new color that was very similar to the trained one. Grey Bar: test presenting a novel differential situation (DIFF D_{large}), i. e. the color that was previously rewarded vs. a new color that was very different from the trained one. c Performance in the tests of the group trained in differential conditioning. Blue Bar: test presenting the trained situation (DIFF D____Tr), i. e. the previously rewarded and the non-rewarded colors which were very similar. White Bar: test presenting onlyt the previously rewarded color (ABS). Grey Bar: Test presenting the previously rewarded color vs. a novel color very different from the rewarded one (DIFF D_{lare}). d Three-dimensional reconstruction of a fruit fly brain; AL: antennal lobe; OL: optic lobe; Me: medulla; Lo: lobula; Lop: lobula plate; MB: mushroom body; Ca: calyx; dl: dorsal lobe; ml: medial lobe; pe: peduncle; CB: central body; eb: ellipsoid body; fb: frontal bridge; fb: fan-shaped body; sa: superior arch. e Three-dimensional reconstruction of a honeybee brain; LPR: lateral protocerebrum

in the whole pattern, absolute conditioning results in a recognition strategy that restricts cue sampling mainly to the lower half of the pattern. In other words, bees recognize a pattern differently, depending on the kind of learning implicit to the conditioning task. In both cases (color and pattern learning), however, differential conditioning increases the demands imposed to the perceptual system of the bees. They not only have to go where a rewarded stimulus is presented (absolute conditioning) but to discriminate it from a non-rewarding alternative (differential conditioning). The difference in performance suggests, therefore, that attentional processes are involved. In differential conditioning the bee has to focus on the difference and not on the mere presence of a visual target, thus making learning slower. In any case, the result contradicts the idea that the difference between two colors is a fixed, immutable property constrained by the visual machinery.

At the time at which Menzel first characterized color learning (1967, 1968; see above) studies on pattern perception were performed by Wehner (1967, 1971, 1972) and others (e.g. Anderson 1972), continuing the tradition started by von Frisch's students (Hertz 1929a,b, 1933; Wolf 1933, 1934; Wolf and Zerrahn-Wolf 1935). In contrast to Menzel's work, these studies did not focus on learning but on the perceptual capabilities of bees confronted with pattern discrimination tasks. Certainly, visual conditioning was also used in these and in later works on pattern perception (for review see Wehner 1981; Srinivasan 1994; Lehrer 1997; Srinivasan and Zhang 1997) but there was no quantification of acquisition curves and/or a characterization of pattern memory. This tradition was continued in the 1970s, 80s and even 90s when visual learning was used mainly as a tool to answer questions of visual perception and discrimination close to the feeding place. The questions asked by these works focused on visual spatial resolution, shape discrimination, orientation detection, movement perception and distance estimation based on image movement on the retina (the so-called parallax), among others. An accurate control of the bees' individual experience prior to the tests to which they were subjected, would have been desirable.

As mentioned above, in pattern vision, like in color vision, what a bee sees depends on its previous visual experience and on possible attentional processes. Zhang and Srinivasan (1994) showed, for instance, that the previous visual experience of a bee can speed up the analysis of the retinal image when a familiar object or scene is encountered. They first attempted to train bees to distinguish between a ring and a disk when each shape was presented as a textured figure placed a few centimetres in front of a similarly textured background (Fig. 3a). In principle the figures were detectable through the relative motion of the figure outlines, whose distance differed from that of the background when bees flew towards the targets. Despite intensive training, the bees were incapable of learning the difference between a ring and a disk (Fig. 3a), a discrimination task that usually poses no problems when the bees see the stimuli as plain (non-textured) shapes. Zhang and Srinivasan (1994) then trained a group of bees to solve the 'easy' problem, presenting a plain black disk and ring positioned a few cm in front of a white background (Fig. 3b). As expected, the bees easily learned the task. They were then confronted with the 'difficult' problem of learning the textured disk versus the ring and this time they immediately solved the discrimination task (Fig. 3c). Thus, pre-training with plain stimuli primed the pattern recognition system in such a way that it was able to detect shapes that otherwise could not be distinguished. Again, it may be that such pretraining triggers attentional processes that allow a better focus on the targets that have to be discriminated between.

Thus, color and pattern vision studies in bees have introduced the idea that visual capabilities are modulated by attentional and experience-dependent processes. This idea has been explicitly studied in honeybees trained to choose a colored disc ('target') among a varying number of differently color-



Fig. 3 Prior experience enhances pattern discrimination in honeybees (adapted from Zhang and Srinivasan 2004). **a** Bees were trained in a dual-choice Y-maze to distinguish between a ring (rewarded) and a disk (non-rewarded) when each shape was presented as a textured figure placed a few cm in front of a similarly textured background. Despite intensive training, the bees were incapable of learning the difference between a ring and a disk (n: number of choices; the percentages correspond to the choice of stimuli presented). **b** When these stimuli were presented as plain (non-textured) shapes, few cm in front of a white background, the bees could, as expected, easily learn the task. **c** They were then confronted with the difficult problem of learning the textured disk vs. the ring and this time they solved the discrimination challenge. Pre-training with the plain stimuli may trigger attentional processes that allow a better focus on the targets whose discrimination is difficult

ed discs ('distractors') (Spaethe et al. 2006). Accuracy and decision time were measured as a function of distractor number and color. For all color combinations, decision time increased and accuracy decreased with increasing distractor number, whereas performance increased when more targets were present. These findings are characteristic of a serial search in primates, when stimuli are examined sequentially, thus indicating that at the behavioral level, the strategies implemented by bees converge with those of animals in which attention is commonly studied (Spaethe et al. 2006). In addition, other results have shown that the visual strategies used by bees to accomplish visual discrimination may be affected by the amount of experience accumulated at the moment of a test (Giurfa et al. 2003; Stach and Giurfa 2005). Quantifying individual experience and reporting visual acquisition curves is therefore crucial even for the simplest visual discrimination experiment that involves training to a single visual target.

Uncovering how attentional processes and learning modulate visual perception constitutes an unexplored and promising research field. The existence of attentional processes in insect brains is not far-fetched and recent research has been able to locate such processes in identified structures of the insect brain. In the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster, attention can be demonstrated and characterized at the physiological level (van Swinderen and Greenspan 2003). A tethered fruit fly within a circular arena and tracking a visual object (a vertical black bar) moving at a constant frequency around it, exhibits anticipatory behavior consistent with attention for the bar it tracks. The neural correlate of such an anticipatory tracking is a transient increase in a 20-30 Hz local fieldpotential recorded in a region of the brain called the medial protocerebrum (Fig. 2d; van Swinderen and Greenspan 2003). The neural response is not only anticipatory, but also selective to the stimulus presented, increased by novelty and salience and reduced when the fly is in a sleep-like state (van Swinderen and Greenspan 2003). Moreover, the use of mutants showed that a subset of neurons of the mushroom bodies, which are a higher-order structure of the insect brain (Fig. 2d, e), are required for both the tracking response and the 20-30 Hz response. Mutants in which the output of these neurons was suppressed did not retain either of these characteristics, thus showing that the neural basis of attentional processes can be

located in a specific set of neurons of the fruit fly brain (van Swinderen and Greenspan 2003). This result is consistent with the finding that mushroom bodies are required for choice behavior in Drosophila facing contradictory visual cues (Tang and Guo 2001). In this case, a tethered fly flying stationarily is trained in a circular arena in which one kind of visual stimulus (say, a T pattern) represents a permitted flight direction, while another kind of visual stimulus (say, an inverted T pattern) represents a forbidden flight direction associated with an unpleasant heat beam on the thorax. Tang and Guo (2001) conditioned flies to choose one of two directions in response to color and shape cues; after the training, the flies were tested using contradictory cues. Wild-type flies made a discrete choice that switched from one alternative to the other as the relative salience of color and shape cues gradually changed. However, this ability was greatly diminished in mutant flies with miniature mushroom bodies or in flies with chemically ablated mushroom bodies. Obviously, mushroom bodies mediate the assessment of the relative saliency of conflicting visual cues (Tang and Guo 2001, Xi et al. 2008) and are also involved in improving the extraction of visual cues after pre-training in Drosophila (Peng et al. 2007). The mushroom bodies of hymenopterans may play similar roles (Fig. 1e), favoring attention processes and better problem solving and discrimination in the visual domain.

Yet, visual learning and the neural circuits mediating it are still poorly understood in the fruit fly. The mushroom bodies, which are the main site for olfactory memories, are not directly involved in visual learning. In *Drosophila*, different from hymenopterans, there is no direct input from the visual areas of the brain to these structures (Wolf et al. 1998). Recent studies succeeded in precisely identifying the neuronal substrates of two forms of visual memory in the *Drosophila* brain, outside the mushroom bodies (Liu et al. 2006). Memory for pattern elevation and orientation, two parameters whose variations can be easily distinguished by flies, were retraced to different regions of the central complex, a structure in the centre of the insect brain (Fig. 2 d). Two neuronal layers of the central complex are required for visual discrimination based on pattern elevation and orientation, respectively. Because in all cases only visual short-term memory was studied, the localization of visual long-term memory remains an open question.

In bees and wasps, the localization of visual memories may differ from that in *Drosophila*. In contrast to the fruit fly, the visual areas of the hymenopteran brain do provide direct input to the mushroom bodies (Ehmer and Gronenberg 2002). The mushroom bodies may well, therefore, be the seat of visual memories in addition to the central complex (Fig. 2d).

4.

Complex forms of visual learning (that may not be so complex)

Only in the 1990s, when researchers became interested in the existence of cognitive processing in insects and the honeybee, was the model chosen to address most of the questions asked at that time. The delay with respect to the general "cognitive revolution" which already flourished at the end of the 1970s and the early 1980s (Miller 2003) was due to the reluctance to view invertebrates, and therefore insects, as cognitive organisms (by cognitive we understand here as 'capable of non-elemental', higher-order forms of learning). For instance, the main idea about visual pattern learning, which is still sometimes defended, was that insects can only view isolated spots, blobs and bars without having the capacity to integrate them in a given configuration (Horridge 2000, 2003, 2006, 2009). Even a basic capacity of recognition such as generalization, the ability to respond to stimuli that despite being different are perceptually similar to a trained target (Spence 1937, Shepard 1987), was and still is considered by some researchers as being too high-level for a honeybee (Horridge 2006, 2009). Yet, dozens of works had already shown that honeybees generalize their choice of visual patterns to novel figures that have some similarity with those that have been trained (e.g. Wehner 1971, Anderson 1972). This denial of generalization capacities is consistent with the preconception that bees and insects in general have limited plasticity and should instead be viewed as reflex machines or robots reacting to specific features in the environment to which they are attuned.

In the last decade, however, researchers have shown that bees are not robots but exhibit visual learning capabilities that to date had only been attributed to various vertebrates. Some of these capacities are surprising and may be viewed as non-elemental. However, alternatively one might argue that it is possible to explain them as being based on simple, elemental associations. The experiments reviewed in the next section were not conceived to address these opposite views, so we are currently unable to determine whether the fascinating performances observed are forms of elemental or higherorder learning.

4.1 Visually-based recognition of individuals in wasps

The capacity to recognize the distinctive identity of individuals has long been dismissed in social insects because of the cognitive requirements that such performance may impose in colonies with thousands of individuals. For instance, Wilson (1971) stated that "insect societies are, for the most part, impersonal [...]. The sheer size of the colonies and the short life of the members make it inefficient, if not impossible, to establish individual bonds". Not all social insects live, however, in huge overcrowded societies. Small colonies of bumble bees, wasps and some ant species are based on dominance hierarchies where individual recognition may be crucial for responding appropriately to a conspecific. Indeed, recent studies have shown that gueens of the ant Pachycondyla villosa recognize each other using olfactory cuticular cues (d'Ettorre and Heinze 2005). In the visual domain, studies on the paper wasp Polistes fuscatus have shown that individual recognition is achieved through learning the yellow-black patterns on the wasp faces and/or abdomens (Tibbetts 2002) (Fig. 4). More variable patterns with larger black components were found to be carried by individuals ranking higher in the nest hierarchy. Altering these facial and/ or abdominal color patterns induced aggression against such animals, irrespective of whether their patterns were made to signal higher or lower ranking. These results, therefore, are in favor of the capacity to learn visual features allowing the recognition of individual wasps (Tibbetts and Dale 2004). This capacity should not necessarily be a surprise with regard to its cognitive implications. Each individual facial mask would have an unambiguous significance in terms of its ranking in the social structure (i.e. mask A $\rightarrow \alpha$ individual; mask B $\rightarrow \beta$ individual, etc.) Thus, wasps would learn a series of elemental associations between mask patterns and social ranking. Given the small size of colonies in which five to ten individuals can coexist, storing several memories, one for each individual, seems to be a plausible possibility. If this were the case, a fundamental research goal would now be to characterize the storage capacity of the visual memory and its accuracy in relation to colony size (number of individuals).

4.2 Learning by observation in bumblebees

According to recent studies on bumblebees (Leadbeater and Chittka 2005, 2007; Worden and Papaj 2005), these insects copy the learnt foraging preferences of other bees by observing their choices of visual rewarded targets. Bumblebees, Bombus terrestris, are influenced by other conspecifics when sampling unfamiliar flowers. They land on unknown flowers where other bees are already present (Leadbeater and Chittka 2005). This behavior is exhibited even when naïve bees are separated from experienced foragers by a transparent screen such that they can neither sample the flowers by themselves nor interact with their foraging conspecifics (Worden and Papaj 2005). Similarly, naïve



Fig. 4 Portraits of nine *Polistes dominulus* wasp foundresses showing the diversity of facial patterns (from Tibbets and Dale 2004)

bumblebees would abandon an unrewarding flower species and switch to a more rewarding alternative more quickly when accompanied by experienced foragers (Leadbeater and Chittka 2007).

As surprising as this performance may appear, it can be accounted for by an elemental form of associative learning called secondorder conditioning (Pavlov 1927), which involves two connected associations. In this scenario, an animal first learns an association between a conditioned stimulus (CS) and an unconditioned stimulus (US). It then experiences a pairing between a new conditioned stimulus CS2 and CS1 so that CS2 becomes meaningful through its association with CS1, and indirectly with the US. How would this apply to the observational learning of bumblebees? One could propose that naïve bumblebees first associate the presence of a conspecific (CS1) with reward (US) simply by foraging close to experienced foragers. Subsequently, the observation of a conspecific landing on a given color (CS2) may allow establishing an association between color (CS2) and conspecific (CS1) (Leadbeater and Chittka 2007). The hypothesis of connected elemental links is supported by the fact that honeybees can learn 2ndorder associations while searching for food. They learn to connect both two odors (Odor 1 + Sucrose Reward; Odor 2 + Odor 1; Bittermann et al. 1983) and one odor and one color (Odor + Sucrose Reward; Color + Odor; Grossman 1971).

4.3 'Symbolic matching to sample' and other forms of conditional discrimination in bees and wasps

'Symbolic matching to sample' is a term used to describe an experimental situation in which the correct response to a problem depends on a specific background or condition. In other words, animals have to learn, for instance, that in condition A response C is correct while in condition B response D is correct. This is why symbolic matching to sample is considered to be a form of conditional discrimination because a given stimulus, the sample (also called the 'occasion setter'), sets the condition for the next choice. Using this design, Zhang et al. (1999) trained honeybees to fly through a compound Y-maze consisting of a series of interconnected cylinders. The first cylinder carried the sample stimulus (e.g. a vertical or a horizontal blackand-white grating). The second and third cylinders each had two exits. Each exit presented a visual stimulus so that the bee had to choose between them. In the second cylinder, bees had to choose between a blue and a green square whereas in the third cylinder they had to choose between a radially sectored and a ring pattern. Correct seguences of choices were 'Vertical – Green – *Ring'* and *'Horizontal – Blue – Radial'*. Only after making a succession of correct choices both in the second and in the third cylinder a bee could reach the feeder with sucrose solution. The bees learned to master these successive associations between different kinds of visual cues (Zhang et al. 1999). This finding was also extended to other sensory modalities; the same principle applied when visual cues were combined with odors in a similar symbolic matching protocol (Srinivasan et al. 1998).

Conditional learning admits other variants that, depending on the number of occasion setters and discriminations involved, have received different names. For instance, another form of conditional discrimination involving two occasion setters is the so-called *transwitching problem*. In this experiment an animal is trained differentially using two stimuli, A and B, and two different occasion setters, C and D. When C is available, stimulus A is rewarded but not stimulus B (A+ vs. B-), while the opposite is the case (A- vs. B+) when D is available. The transwitching problem is also considered a form of contextual learning because the occasion setters C1 and C2 can be viewed as contexts determining the appropriateness of each choice. Bumblebees have been trained in a transwitching problem to choose a 45° grating and to avoid a 135° grating to reach a feeder, and to do the opposite to reach their nest (Fauria et al. 2002) (Fig. 5). Here, the nest and the feeder provide the appropriate contexts defining what has to be chosen. Bumblebees can also learn that an annular or a radial disc must be chosen, depending on the disc's association with a 45° or a 135° grating either at the feeder or the nest entrance: At the nest, access was allowed by the combinations 45° + radial disc and 135° + annular disc, but not by the combinations 45° + annular disc and 135° + radial disc; at the feeder, the opposite applied (Fauria et al. 2000). In both cases, the potentially competing visuo-motor associations were insulated from each other by being set in different contexts.

Solving this kind of problem can be viewed as a form of non-elemental learning and thus as a sophisticated form of cognitive visual



Fig. 5 Performance of bumblebees in a transwitching problem in which they had to choose between two gratings, which have different outcomes depending on the site (feeding place or nest entrance) in which they are presented (adapted from Fauria et al. 2002). **Top:** Stimuli used to train the bumblebees in phases 2 and 3 of the experiment; B: blue; Y: yellow. The stimuli framed in bold are those that allowed animals to access either the food (grating oriented at 45°) or the nest (yellow in phase 2, and grating oriented at 135° in phase 3). While phase 2 poses a simple, non-ambiguous problem to the bees, phase 3 constitutes a case of transwitching as the grating oriented at 135° (and not at 45°) becomes positive at the nest entrance (i. e. allows accessing the nest). **Bottom:** Percentage of correct choices of groups of eight bees plotted against trial number for phases 2 and 3. The curves show the performance with 45° *versus* 135° gratings at the feeder and yellow *versus* blue at the nest in phase 2, and with 45° *versus* 135° at the nest in phase 3. In phase 2, bees were assisted in trials 1 and 2, so these trials are not plotted. Changing the stimuli from phase 2 to 3 affected performance at the nest but left intact that at the feeder. At the end of phase 3, the bees mastered both problems simultaneously

processing. Indeed, as for other forms of conditional discrimination, one could describe this protocol as CA+, CB- (if C then A but not B), and DA-, DB+ (if D then B but not A). Each stimulus, A, B, C, and D, is rewarded as often as it is non-rewarded so that solutions cannot be based on the mere consequence of A, B, C or D. A higher-order solution would then be to learn the outcome of each particular configuration CA, CB, DA, DB. However, an alternative explanation could argue that what the insects do is to establish hierarchically simple associations like those underlying 2nd-order conditioning (see above). Indeed, one could imagine that bees learn to associate a radial disc with sucrose reward and that they then learn to associate a 45° grating with the radial disc. This is a relatively simple strategy probably used by bees for navigational purposes (Zhang et al. 1996) when they are confronted with successions of different landmarks en route to the goal.

A critical factor determining the application of one strategy or the other may, therefore, be the temporal order of stimulus presentation. If these are presented serially, learning chains of simple associations could be primed while simultaneous presentation of stimuli may prime learning of configurations and their specific consequences. An example of the latter is the case of honeybees trained to solve a biconditional discrimination AC+, BD+, AD-, BC- in which all four stimuli were presented simultaneously, and were as often rewarded as non-rewarded (Schubert et al. 2002). Four different gratings combining one color (yellow or violet = A or B) with one orientation (horizontal or vertical = C or D) were used in such a way that bees had to learn that, for instance, yellow-horizontal (AC) and violet-vertical (BD) were rewarded while yellow-vertical (AD) and violet-horizontal (BC) were non-rewarded. Bees learned to choose the rewarded stimuli despite the fact that colors and orientations were ambiguous when considered

alone. They thus learned the configurations and not the specific outcome of each element (Schubert et al. 2002).

The last example shows that it is possible to distinguish between elemental and nonelemental visual learning. However, leaving this exception aside, despite their sophistication the visual performances presented in this section can be accounted for by elemental associations. Further research should determine to what extent visual performances, which appear complex to us, are indeed based on higher-order or on simple associations.

5. Non-elemental visual learning

A higher level of complexity is reached when animals respond in an adaptive manner to novel stimuli that they have never encountered before and that do not predict a specific outcome per se based on the animals' past experience. Such a positive transfer of learning (Robertson 2001) is therefore different from elemental forms of learning, which link known stimuli or actions to specific rewards (or punishments). In the previous section, symbolic matching to sample, for instance, does not pose this kind of problem to a bee: Horizontal leads always to Blue which in turn leads always to Radial which in turn always leads to a reward (Zhang et al. 1999). In the cases considered in this section, the insects' response seems to reflect a rule guiding the animal's behavior. Examples are relational rules such as 'on top of' or 'larger than' which can be applied irrespective of the physical similarity of the stimuli presented or the previous 'knowledge' that the animal has of these stimuli.

5.1 Categorization of visual stimuli in honeybees

Positive transfer of learning is a distinctive characteristic of categorization performances. Visual categorization refers to the classification of visual stimuli into defined functional groups (Harnard 1987). It can be defined as the ability to group distinguishable objects or events on the basis of a common feature or set of features, and therefore to respond similarly to them (Troje et al. 1999; Delius et al. 2000; Zentall et al. 2002). Categorization deals, therefore, with the extraction of defining features from objects of the subject's environment. A typical categorization experiment trains an animal to extract the basic attributes of a category and then tests it with novel stimuli that were never encountered before and that may or may not present the attributes of the category learned. If the animal chooses the novel stimuli based on these attributes it classifies them as belonging to the category and therefore exhibits a positive transfer of learning. Categorization differs between generalizations because generalization implies a gradual decrease in responses along a perceptual dimension while categories have abrupt borders. In other words, if we are trained to search for a specific fruit of a given red color, we may respond less and less (we generalize less) to fruits whose hue varies progressively from the known red to different red hues. However, if the task we learned is to search for red objects in general and not for blue ones, we may respond equally to very different reds. We assign the different reds to the same category, even though we can distinguish them well. As long as we identify the presence of red, we respond positively. However, if the hue is changed to an extent which makes us decide that we are out of the category, we will stop responding abruptly.

According to several recent studies, freeflying honeybees trained to discriminate between different patterns and shapes are indeed able to visually categorize. For instance, van Hateren et al. (1990) trained bees to discriminate between two given gratings presented vertically and in other orientations (e.g. 45° vs. 135°) by rewarding the choice of only one of these gratings with sucrose solution. Each bee was trained with a changing succession of pairs of different gratings, one of which was always rewarded and the other not. Despite the difference in pattern quality, all the rewarded patterns had the same edge orientation and all the non- rewarded patterns had a common orientation as well (perpendicular to the rewarded one). Under these circumstances, the bees had to extract and learn the orientation common to all rewarded patterns to solve the task. This was the only cue predicting reward delivery. In the tests, bees were presented with novel patterns, which they had never been exposed to before. These patterns were all non-rewarded but had the same stripe orientations as the rewarding and non-rewarding patterns employed during the training. In such transfer tests, bees chose the appropriate orientation despite the novelty of the structural details of the stimuli. Thus, bees could categorize visual stimuli on the basis of their global orientation.

Bees can also categorize visual patterns based on their bilateral symmetry. When trained with a succession of changing patterns to discriminate bilateral symmetry from asymmetry, they learn to extract this information from very different figures and indeed transfer it to novel symmetrical and asymmetrical patterns (Giurfa et al. 1996). Similar conclusions apply to other visual features such as radial symmetry, concentric pattern organization and pattern disruption (see Benard et al. 2006for review) and even photographs belonging to a given class (e. g. radial flower, landscape, plant stem) (Zhang et al. 2004).

How could bees classify different photographs of radial flowers appropriately if these vary in color, size, outline, etc.? An explanation was provided by Stach et al. (2004) who expanded the demonstration that bees can categorize visual stimuli based on their global orientation. The authors showed that different coexisting orientations can be considered at a time, and can be integrated into a global stimulus representation that is the basis for the category (Stach et al. 2004). Thus, a radial flower would in fact be the conjunction of five or more radiating edges. Besides focusing on a single orientation, honeybees were shown to assemble different features to build a generic pattern representation, which could be used to respond appropriately to novel stimuli sharing such a basic layout. Honeybees trained with a series of complex patterns sharing a common layout comprising four edge orientations remembered these orientations simultaneously in their appropriate positions, and transferred their response to novel stimuli that preserved the trained layout (Fig. 6). Honeybees also transferred their response to patterns with fewer correct orientations, depending on their match with the trained layout. Obviously honeybees extract regularities in their visual environment and establish correspondences among correlated features such that they generate a large set of object descriptions from a finite set of elements.

This capacity can also explain the recent claim that honeybees can learn to recognize human faces (Dyer et al. 2005). Bees were rewarded with sugar water to choose a photograph of a person's face and to distinguish it from other persons' photographs. They were indeed able to do that. Does this mean that bees do recognize human faces? Not really. For the bees rewarded on the photographs these were just strange flowers. The more interesting question is which information contained in the photographs was used to recognize the correct stimulus. This question was recently tackled by a work that studied whether bees can bind the features of a face-like stimulus (two dots in the upper part as the eyes, a vertical line below as the nose, and a horizontal line in the lower part as the mouth) and recognize faces using this basic configuration (Avargues et al. 2010). Bees did indeed distinguish between different variants of the face-like stimuli, thus showing that they discriminate between these options, but they grouped the stimuli and therefore reacted similarly to faces if trained to do so. Stimuli made of the same elements (two dots, a vertical and a horizontal line) but not preserving the configuration of a face were not recognized as positive. This shows that bees learn that the rewarded stimulus consists of a series of elements arranged in a specific spatial configuration. Interestingly, the recognition of face-like stimuli by bees is flexible enough to transfer the choice towards real photographs which obviously preserve the basic configuration learned (Avargues et al. 2010). Furthermore, when trained with real faces, bees can learn to recognize novel views of a face by interpolating between or 'averaging' views they have experienced (Dyer and Vuong 2008).

In any case, honeybees show a positive transfer of learning from a trained to a novel set of stimuli, and their performances are consistent with the definition of categorization. Visual stimulus categorization is not, therefore, a privilege of certain vertebrates. At the same time this finding may not be surprising as it admits (again) an interpretation based on elemental learning. To understand this interpretation, the possible neural mechanisms underlying categorization have to be considered. If we admit that visual stimuli are categorized on the basis of specific features such as orientation, the neural implementation of category recognition could be relatively simple. The feature(s) allowing stimulus classification would then have to activate specific neuronal detectors



Fig. 6 Categorization of visual patterns based on sets of multiple features (adapted from Stach et al. 2004). **a** Training stimuli used in Stach et al.'s experiments (2004). Bees were trained to discriminate A from B patterns during a random succession of A vs. B patterns. A patterns (A1 to A6) differed from each other but shared a common layout of orientations in the four quadrants. B patterns (B1 to B6) shared a common layout perpendicular to that of A patterns. **b** Test stimuli used to determine whether bees extract the simplified layout of four bars from the rewarded A patterns. S+, simplified layout of the rewarded A patterns; UL, upper-left bar rotated; UR, upper-right bar rotated; LL, lower-left bar rotated; LR, lower-right bar rotated. **c** *Left panel*: acquisition curve showing the pooled performance of bees rewarded on A and B patterns. The proportion of correct choices along seven blocks of six consecutive visits is shown. Bees learned to discriminate between the rewarding patterns (A or B and improved significantly their correct choices during training. *Right panel*: proportion of correct choices in the tests with the novel patterns. Bees always preferred the simplified layout of the training patterns previously rewarded (S+) to any variant in which one bar was rotated

in the optic lobes, the visual areas of the bee brain. Examples of such feature detectors are orientation detectors whose selectivity for stimulus orientation was already characterized electrophysiologically by recording from neurons in the honeybee optic lobes (Yang and Maddess 1997). Thus, responding behaviorally to different gratings with a common orientation of, say, 60°, is simple because they all will elicit activity in the same set of neural orientation detectors despite their different structural quality. In the case of category learning, the activation of an additional neural element is needed. Such an element would be a 'reward neuron' whose activity substitutes for the sucrose reward. A neuron with these properties has been identified in the honeybee brain. It is called VUM_{m×1} (from 'ventral unpaired median' neuron located in the maxillar neuromere 1; Hammer 1993). VUM_{m×1} mediates olfactory learning in the honeybee as it contacts the olfactory circuit at its key processing stages in the brain. In other words, when an odor

activates the olfactory circuit, concomitant sucrose stimulation activates VUM_{mx1} thus providing the basis for neural coincidence between odor and reward. The branching of $VUM_{m \times 1}$ makes it specific for the olfactory circuit and thus for olfactory learning (Hammer 1993). Other VUM neurons whose function is still unknown are present in the bee brain (Schroter et al. 2006). One or a few of them could be the neural basis of reward in associative visual learning. Category learning could thus be reduced to the progressive reinforcement of a neural circuit relating visual-coding and reward-coding neurons to each other, similar to the behavior observed in simple associative (e.g. Pavlovian) conditioning. Even if categorization is viewed as a non-elemental learning form because it involves the positive transfer of learning, it may simply rely on elemental links between conditioned and unconditioned stimuli.

An even simpler alternative may account for the categorization task described. The mechanism just explained could be viewed as a form of supervised learning, in which a visual network is instructed by the external signal of the reinforcement neuron to respond to the right combination of features. Recent modeling work on the vertebrate visual system has shown that visual networks can learn to extract the distinctive features of a category without any kind of supervision (Masquelier et al. 2007). The model relies on the fact that neurons strongly activated fire first, a mechanism that encodes image information, and on the presence of the so-called spike timing dependent plasticity (STDP), which is a rule that concentrates high synaptic weights on afferents that systematically fire early. When a network with these properties is repeatedly presented with natural images belonging to a given category, neurons become selective to the features that are predictive of the category, while their latencies decrease. Thus, those features that are both salient and consistently present in the images are highly informative and enable robust object recognition (Masquelier et al. 2007). Testing whether similar neural mechanisms underlie object categorization in the insect visual system would be a fascinating task.

5.2 Rule learning in honeybees

In rule learning, positive transfer occurs independently of the physical nature of the stimuli considered. The animal learns relations between objects and not the objects themselves. Typical examples are the socalled rules of *sameness* and *difference*. They are demonstrated through the protocols of delayed matching to sample (DMTS) and delayed non-matching to sample (DNMTS), respectively. In DMTS, animals are presented with a sample and then with a set of stimuli, one of which is identical to the sample. Choice of this stimulus is rewarded while choice of the different stimuli is not. Since the sample is regularly changed, animals must learn the sameness rule, i.e. 'always choose what is shown to you (the sample), independent of what else is shown to you'. In DNMTS, the animal has to learn the opposite, i. e. 'always choose the opposite of what is shown to you (the sample)'. Honeybees foraging in a Y-maze learn both rules (Giurfa et al. 2001). They were trained in a DMTS experiment in which they were presented with a changing non-rewarded sample (i.e. one of two different color disks or one of two different black-and-white gratings, vertical or horizontal) at the entrance of a maze (Fig. 7). The bees were rewarded only if they chose the stimulus identical to the sample once within the maze. Bees trained with colors and presented in transfer tests with blackand-white gratings that they had not experienced before solved the problem and chose the grating identical to the sample at the entrance of the maze. Similarly, bees trained



c)



Fig. 7 Rule learning in honeybees (adapted from Giurfa et al. 2001). **a** Honeybees were trained to collect sugar solution in a Y-maze. **b** A series of different patterns was used to train a rule of sameness. A sample was shown at the maze entrance and bees had to match their choice to the sample once they entered the maze. When the bees mastered the trained discrimination, they were presented with novel simuli. **c** Transfer tests with novel stimuli. In Experiment 1, bees trained with the colors were tested with the gratings. In Experiment 2, bees trained with the gratings were tested with the colors. In both cases the bees chose the novel stimuli corresponding to the sample shown at the entrance of the maze, although they had no experience with such test stimuli

with the gratings and tested with colors in transfer tests also solved the problem and chose the novel color corresponding to that of the sample grating at the maze entrance. Transfer was not limited to different types of visual stimuli (pattern vs. color), but could also operate between drastically different sensory modalities such as olfaction and vision (Giurfa et al. 2001). Bees also mastered a DNMTS task, thus showing that they learn a rule of difference between stimuli as well (Giurfa et al. 2001). These results document that bees learn rules relating to stimuli in their environment.

The capacity of honeybees to solve a DMTS task has recently been verified and studied with respect to the working memory underlying it (Zhang et al. 2005). It was found that the working memory for the sample underlying the solving of DMTS lasts for approximately 5s (Zhang et al. 2005). This length of time coincides with the duration of other visual and olfactory short-term memories characterized in simpler forms of associative learning in honeybees (Menzel 1999; see above). Moreover, bees trained in a DMTS task can learn to pay attention to one of two different samples presented successively in a flight tunnel (either to the first or to the second) and can transfer the learnt relevance of the sequence to novel samples (Zhang et al. 2005).

Despite the honeybees' evident capacity to solve relational problems such as the DMTS or the DNMTS tasks, such capacities are not unlimited. In some cases, biological constraints may impede the solving of a particular problem for which the extraction of a rule is necessary. It is therefore interesting to focus on a different example of rule learning which bees could not master, the *transitive inference problem* (Benard and Giurfa 2004). In this problem, animals have to learn a transitive rule, i. e. A>B, B>C, then A>C. Preference for A over C in this context can be explained as the result of two strategies: 1) deductive reasoning (Fersen et al. 1990) in which the experimental subjects construct and manipulate avlinear representation of the implicit hierarchy A>B>C; or 2) responding as a function of the effective number of reinforced and non-reinforced experiences with the stimuli (A is always reinforced while C is always non-reinforced) (Terrace and McGonigle 1994).

To determine whether bees learn a transitive rule, they were trained using five different visual stimuli A, B, C, D, and E in a multiple discrimination task: A+ vs. B-, B+ vs. C-, C+ vs. D–, D+ vs. E– (Benard and Giurfa 2004). Training involved the overlap of adjacent premise pairs (A > B, B > C, C > D, D > E), which underlie a linear hierarchy A>B>C>D>E. After training, the bees were tested by presenting B vs. D, a non-adjacent pair of stimuli that were never explicitly trained together. In theory, B and D have equivalent associative strengths because they are, in principle, equally associated with reinforcement or its absence during training. Thus, if the bees were guided by the associative strength of the stimulus, they should choose randomly between B and D. If, however, the bees used a transitive rule, they should prefer B to D. Honeybees learned the premise pairs as long as these were trained as uninterrupted, consecutive blocks of trials (Benard and Giurfa 2004). However, if shorter and interspersed blocks of trials were used, such that the bees had to master all pairs practically simultaneously, performance collapsed and the bees did not learn the premise pairs. The bees' choice was significantly influenced by their experience with the last pair of stimuli (D+ vs. E-) such that they preferred D and avoided E. In the tests, no preference for B to D was found. Although this finding agrees with the idea of an evaluation of stimuli according to their associative strength (see above), during training the bees more often visited B when it was rewarding than they visited D. Therefore a preference for B should have

been expected if only the associative strength were guiding the bees' choices. From the experimental results it was concluded that bees do not establish transitive inferences between stimuli but rather guide their choices by the joint action of a recency effect (preference of the last rewarded stimulus, D) and by an evaluation of the associative strength of the stimuli (in which case preference for B should be evident). As the former supports choice of D while the latter supports choice of B, the equally frequent choice of B and of D in the tests could be explained (Benard and Giurfa 2004). In any case, memory constraints (simultaneous mastering of the different premise pairs was not possible and the predominance of the last excitatory memory over previous memories) impeded the learning of the transitive rule. Recently, Cheng and Wignall (2006) demonstrated that the failure to master several consecutive visual discrimination tasks is due to response competition occurring when animals are tested. This may explain why bees in the transitive inference protocol were unable to master the successive short blocks of training with different premise pairs.

Conclusion

Almost one hundred years of research on visual learning in bees and other social Hymenoptera, starting with Karl von Frisch's (1914) first demonstrations of color and pattern learning in bees, have yielded an impressive amount of information about how honeybees, bumblebees and wasps see the world and learn about visual cues in their environment. New discoveries in this field, inspired by the 'cognitive revolution,' which had a delayed influence on studies of insect perception and learning, have shown that besides simple forms of visual learning whose relevance can be easily conceived in the life of a bee (e.g. associating a flower color and nectar reward), social Hymenoptera also master complex forms of visual learning, ranging from conditional discriminations and observational learning to rule learning. Visual learning capabilities, therefore,

allow the extraction of the logical structure of the perceptual world of insects. Such capabilities reach different levels of complexity but are not unlimited. Although the cognitive capabilities of bees and wasps may surprise due to their sophistication, limitations related to natural life seem inescapable. For instance, in the case of wasps learning facial mask patterns of conspecifics, one could imagine that memory has specific size constraints related to the small sizes of the colonies in which such wasps live. In other words, interindividual recognition is certainly possible but probably has limitations in terms of the number of individuals that can be learned and remembered. Similarly, mastering simultaneously several different associations would be facilitated if these are organized serially or hierarchically in chains of associations that can mediate successful navigation in a complex environment. But if these associations have to be mastered simultaneously at the same place, learning them would be probably difficult given the bees' biological specialization as a serial forager. In this case, learning configurations of stimuli may be more adaptive than learning each component separately.

Considering that social bees and wasps exhibit such complex forms of visual learning, the question arises, which kind of limitation do these insects present as models for the study of the mechanisms of these phenomena? So far the main limitation resides in the impossibility of addressing questions related to the cellular and molecular level. This is especially obvious when considering the achievements reached in Drosophila. The learning protocols used have the advantage of not restraining the animals' movements so that the behaviors recorded reflect the potential of the mini brains of social Hymenoptera. However, the protocols so far used are limiting because in a flying bee no access to the brain is so far possible. As mentioned above, new protocols in which bees learn color - reward and motion cues- reward associations under restrained conditions (Hori et al. 2006, 2007), are promising because they allow access to the neural circuits involved in these learning forms (Giurfa 2007). The critical question would then be to what extent experimental constraints limit the expression of forms of visual learning more complex than elemental associations. Why should bees and wasps continue to be attractive

for research into visual cognition despite this technical limitation? The answer is simple: because the sophisticated visual performances that they exhibit, reviewed in this article, have not been found so far in the fruit fly. Future research should benefit from an analysis comparing the visual performances and mechanisms of bees and flies. The historic burden of not having a window open to the neural and molecular basis of visual learning (irrespective of the level of complexity considered), as is the case in bees, has to be overcome.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful for the support received from the French National Research Agency (ANR; Project APICOLOR), the French Research Council (CNRS) and the University Paul Sabatier. Thanks are also due to Aurore Avarguès-Weber, Julie Benard, and Silke Stach for fruitful discussions and productive collaborations.

References

- Anderson AM (1972) The ability of honey bees to generalize visual stimuli. In: Wehner R (ed) Information processing in the visual systems of arthropods. Springer, Berlin, pp 207–212
- Avarguès-Weber A, Portelli G, Benard J, Dyer A, Giurfa M (2010) Configural processing enables discrimination and categorization of face-like stimuli in honeybees. J Exp Biol 213: 593–601
- Beier W, Menzel R (1972) Untersuchungen über den Farbensinn der deutschen Wespe (Paravespula germanica F., Hymenoptera, Vespidae): verhaltensphysiologischer Nachweis des Farbensehens. Zool Jb Physiol 76: 441–454
- Benard J, Giurfa M (2004) A test of transitive inferences in free-flying honeybees: unsuccessful performance due to memory constraints. Learn Mem 11: 328–336
- Benard J, Stach S, Giurfa M (2006) Categorization of visual stimuli in the honeybee Apis mellifera. Anim Cogn 9: 257–270
- Bitterman ME, Menzel R, Fietz A, Schäfer S (1983) Classical conditioning of proboscis extension in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). J Comp Psychol 97: 107–119

- Camlitepe Y, Aksoy V. (2010) First evidence of fine colour discrimination ability in ants (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). J Exp Biol 213: 72–77
- Campan R, Lehrer M (2002) Discrimination of closed shapes by two species of bee, *Apis mellifera* and *Megachile rotundata*. J Exp Biol 205: 559–572
- Cheng K, Wignall AE (2006) Honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) holding on to memories: response competition causes retroactive interference effects. Anim Cogn 9: 141–150
- Chittka L, Thomson JD, Waser NM (1999) Flower constancy, insect psychology, and plant evolution. Naturwissenschaften 86: 361–377
- Chittka L, Beier W, Hertel H, Steinmann E, Menzel R (1992) Opponent colour coding is a universal strategy to evaluate the photoreceptor inputs in Hymenoptera. J Comp Physiol A 170: 545–563
- Collett TS, Collett M (2002) Memory use in insect visual navigation. Nat Rev Neurosci 3: 542–552
- Collett TS, Graham P, Durier V (2003) Route learning by insects. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13: 718–725
- D'Ettorre P, Heinze J (2005) Individual recognition in ant queens. Curr Biol 15: 2170–2174
- de Brito Sanchez MG, Chen C, Li J, Liu F, Gauthier M, Giurfa M (2008) Behavioral studies on tarsal gustation in honeybees: sucrose responsiveness and sucrose-mediated olfactory conditioning. J Comp Physiol A 194: 861–869
- Delius JD, Jitsumori M, Siemann M (2000) Stimulus equivalences through discrimination reversals. In: Heyes C, Huber L (eds) The evolution of cognition. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, pp 103–122
- Dyer AG, Chittka L (2004) Fine colour discrimination requires differential conditioning in bumblebees. Naturwissenschaften 91: 224–227
- Dyer AG, Neumeyer C (2005) Simultaneous and successive colour discrimination in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Comp Physiol A 191: 547–557
- Dyer AG, Neumeyer C, Chittka L (2005) Honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) vision can discriminate between and recognise images of human faces. J Exp Biol 208: 4709–4714
- Dyer AG, Rosa MGP, Reser DH (2008) Honeybees can recognise images of complex natural scenes for use as potential landmarks. J Exp Biol 211: 1180–1186
- Ehmer B, Gronenberg W (2002) Segregation of visual input to the mushroom bodies in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Comp Neurol 451: 362– 373

- Fauria K, Colborn M, Collett TS (2000) The binding of visual patterns in bumblebees. Curr Biol 10: 935–938
- Fauria K, Dale K, Colborn M, Collett TS (2002) Learning speed and contextual isolation in bumblebees. J Exp Biol 205: 1009–1018
- Fersen L v, Wynne CDL, Delius JD (1990) Deductive reasoning in pigeons. Naturwissenschaften 77: 548–549
- Frisch K v (1914) Der Farbensinn und Formensinn der Biene. Zool Jb Physiol 37: 1–238
- Frisch K v (1965) Tanzsprache und Orientierung der Bienen. Springer Verlag Berlin-Heidelberg-New York.
- Giurfa M (2004) Conditioning procedure and color discrimination in the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. Naturwissenschaften 91(5):228–231
- Giurfa M (2007) Behavioral and neural analysis of associative learning in the honeybee: a taste from the magic well. J Comp Physiol A 193: 801–824
- Giurfa M, Lehrer M (2001) Honeybee vision and floral displays: from detection to close-up recognition. In: L Chittka, JD Thomson (eds) Cognitive ecology of pollination. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 61–82
- Giurfa M, Menzel R (1997) Insect visual perception: complex abilities of simple nervous systems. Curr Opin Neurobiol 7: 505–513
- Giurfa M, Eichmann B, Menzel R (1996) Symmetry perception in an insect. Nature 382: 458–461
- Giurfa M, Núñez JA, Chittka L, Menzel R (1995). Colour preferences of flower-naive honeybees. J Comp Physiol A 177: 247–259
- Giurfa M, Vorobyev M, Kevan P, Menzel R (1996) Detection of coloured stimuli by honeybees: minimum visual angles and receptor specific contrasts. J Comp Physiol A 178: 699–709
- Giurfa M, Zhang S, Jenett A, Menzel R, Srinivasan MV (2001) The concepts of 'sameness' and 'difference' in an insect. Nature 410: 930–933
- Giurfa M, Schubert M, Reisenman C, Gerber B, Lachnit H (2003) The effect of cumulative experience on the use of elemental and configural visual discrimination strategies in honeybees. Behav Brain Res 145: 161–169
- Grant V (1951) The fertilization of flowers. Sci Amer 12: 1–6
- Grossmann KE (1971) Belohnungsverzögerung beim Erlernen einer Farbe an einer künstlichen Futterstelle durch Honigbienen. Z Tierpsychol 29: 28– 41

- Hammer M (1993) An identified neuron mediates the unconditioned stimulus in associative olfactory learning in honeybees. Nature 366: 59–63
- Harnard S (1987) Categorical perception. The groundwork of cognition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Hateren JH v, Srinivasan MV, Wait PB (1990) Pattern recognition in bees: orientation discrimination. J Comp Physiol A 197: 649–654
- Heinrich B (1979) "Majoring" and "minoring" by foraging bumblebees, *Bombus vagans*: an experimental analysis. Ecology 60: 245–255
- Hertz M (1929a) Die Organisation des optischen Feldes bei der Biene I. Z vergl Physiol 8: 693– 748
- Hertz M (1929b) Die Organisation des optischen Feldes bei der Biene II. Z vergl Physiol 11: 107– 145
- Hertz M (1933) Über figurale Intensitäten und Qualitäten in der optischen Wahrnehmung der Biene. Biol Zb 53: 11–40
- Hori S, Takeuchi H, Arikawa K, Kinoshita M, Ichikawa N, Sasaki M, Kubo T (2006) Associative visual learning, color discrimination, and chromatic adaptation in the harnessed honeybee *Apis mellifera* L. J Comp Physiol A 192: 691–700
- Hori S, Takeuchi H, Kubo T (2007) Associative learning and discrimination of motion cues in the harnessed honeybee *Apis mellifera* L. J Comp Physiol A 193: 825–833
- Horridge A (2000) Seven experiments on pattern vision of the honeybee, with a model. Vision Res 40: 2589–2603
- Horridge A (2003) The effect of complexity on the discrimination of oriented bars by the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Comp Physiol A 189: 703–714
- Horridge A (2006) Visual discriminations of spokes, sectors, and circles by the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Insect Physiol 52: 984–1003
- Kuwabara M (1957) Bildung des bedingten Reflexes von Pavlovs Typus bei der Honigbiene, Apis mellifica. J Fac Sci Hokkaido Univ Ser VI Zool 13: 458–464
- Leadbeater E, Chittka L (2005) A new mode of information transfer in foraging bumblebees? Curr Biol 15:R447-R448
- Leadbeater E, Chittka L (2007) The dynamics of social learning in an insect model, the bumblebee (*Bombus terrestris*). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 61: 1789–1796
- Lehrer M (1997) Honeybee's visual orientation at the feeding site. In: Lehrer M (ed) Orientation

and communication in arthropods. Birkhäuser, Basel, pp 115–144

- Lehrer M, Campan R (2004) Shape discrimination by wasps (*Paravespula germanica*) at the food source: generalization among various types of contrast. J Comp Physiol A 190: 651–663
- Lehrer M, Campan R (2005) Generalization of convex shapes by bees: what are shapes made of? J Exp Biol 208: 3233–3247
- Liu G, Seiler H, Wen A, Zars T, Ito K, Wolf R, Heisenberg M, Liu L (2006) Distinct memory traces for two visual features in the *Drosophila* brain. Nature 439: 551–556
- Lotto RB, Chittka L (2005) Seeing the light: Illumination as a contextual cue to color choice behavior in bumblebees. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 102: 3852– 3856
- Masquelier T, Thorpe SJ (2007) Unsupervised learning of visual features through spike timing dependent plasticity. PLoS Comput Biol 3(2):e31
- Menzel R (1967) Untersuchungen zum Erlernen von Spektralfarben durch die Honigbiene (*Apis mellifica*). Z vergl Physiol 56: 22–62
- Menzel R (1968) Das Gedächtnis der Honigbiene für Spektralfarben. I. Kurzzeitiges und langzeitiges Behalten. Z vergl Physiol 60: 82–102
- Menzel R (1985) Learning in honey bees in an ecological and behavioral context. In: Hölldobler B, Lindauer M (eds) *Experimental Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*. Fischer, Stuttgart, pp 55–74
- Menzel R (1999) Memory dynamics in the honeybee. J Comp Physiol A 185: 323–340
- Menzel R, Backhaus W (1991) Colour vision in insects. In: Gouras P (ed) Vision and visual dysfunction. The perception of colour. MacMillan Press, London, pp 262–288
- Menzel R, Greggers U, Hammer M (1993) Functional organization of appetitive learning and memory in a generalist pollinator, the honey bee. In: Papaj D, Lewis AC (eds) *Insect Learning: Ecological and Evolutionary Perspectives.* Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 79–125
- Menzel R, Steinmann E, de Souza J, Backhaus W (1988) Spectral sensitivity of photoreceptors and colour vision in the solitary bee, *Osmia rufa*. J Exp Biol 136: 35–52
- Menzel R, Geiger K, Müller U, Joerges J, Chittka L (1998) Bees travel novel homeward routes by integrating separately acquired vector memories. Anim Behav 55: 139 -152

- Miller GA (2003) The cognitive revolution: a historical perspective. Trends Cognit Sci 7: 141–144
- Núñez JA (1982) Honeybee foraging strategies at a food source in relation to its distance from the hive and the rate of sugar flow. J Apicult Res 21: 139–150
- Pavlov IP (1927) *Lectures on conditioned reflexes*. International publishers, New York
- Robertson I (2001) *Problem Solving*. Psychology Press, Hove
- Schroter U, Malun D, Menzel R (2007) Innervation pattern of suboesophageal ventral unpaired median neurones in the honeybee brain. Cell Tissue Res 327: 647–667
- Schubert M, Giurfa M, Francucci S, Lachnit H (2002) Nonelemental visual learning in honeybees. Anim Behav 64: 175–184
- Schwaerzel M, Müller U (2006) Dynamic memory networks: dissecting molecular mechanisms underlying associative memory in the temporal domain. Cell Mol Life Sci 63: 989–998
- Shepard RN (1987) Towards a universal law of generalisation for psychological science. Science 237: 1317–1323
- Spaethe J, Tautz J, Chittka L (2006) Do honeybees detect colour targets using serial or parallel visual search? J Exp Biol 209: 987–993
- Spence KW (1937) The differential response to stimuli varying within a single dimension. Psychol Rev 44: 430–444
- Srinivasan MV (1994) Pattern recognition in the honeybee: recent progress. J Insect Physiol 40: 183–194
- Srinivasan MV, Zhang SW, Zhu H (1998). Honeybees link sights to smells. Nature 396: 637–638
- Srinivasan MV, Poteser M, Kral K (1999) Motion detection in insect orientation and navigation. Vision Res 39: 2749–2766
- Stach S, Giurfa M (2005) The influence of training length on generalization of visual feature assemblies in honeybees. Behav Brain Res 161: 8–17
- Stach S, Benard J, Giurfa M (2004) Local-feature assembling in visual pattern recognition and generalization in honeybees. Nature 429: 758–761
- Swinderen Bv, Greenspan RJ (2003) Salience modulates 20–30 Hz brain activity in *Drosophila*. Nature Neurosci 6: 579–586
- Tang S, Guo A (2001) Choice behavior of *Drosophila* facing contradictory visual cues. Science 294: 1543–1547

- Terrace HS, McGonigle B (1994) Memory and representation of serial order by children, monkeys and pigeons. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 3: 180–185
- Tibbets EA (2002) Visual signals of individual identity in the wasp *Polistes fuscatus*. Proc Biol Sci 269: 1423–1428
- Tibbets EA, Dale J (2004) A socially enforced signal of quality in a paper wasp. Nature 432: 218–222
- Troje F, Huber L, Loidolt M, Aust U, Fieder M (1999) Categorical learning in pigeons: the role of texture and shape in complex static stimuli. Vis Res 39: 353–366
- Wehner R (1967) Pattern recognition in bees. Nature 215: 1244–1248
- Wehner R (1971) The generalization of directional visual stimuli in the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. J Insect Physiol 17: 1579–1591
- Wehner R (1972) Dorsoventral asymmetry in the visual field of the bee, *Apis mellifera*. J Comp Physiol A 77: 256–277
- Wehner R (1981) Spatial vision in arthropods. In: Autrum H (ed) Invertebrate Visual Centers and Behavior. Handbook of Sensory Physiology VII/6C. Springer, Berlin, pp 287–616
- Wilson EO (1971) The Insect Societies. Belknap Press, Cambridge, pp 548
- Wittstock S, Menzel R (1994) Color learning and memory in honey bees are not affected by protein synthesis inhibition. Behav Neural Biol 62: 224–229
- Wolf E (1933) Critical frequency of flicker as a function of intensity of illumination for the eye of the bee. J Gen Physiol 17: 7–19
- Wolf E (1934) Das Verhalten der Biene gegenüber flimmernden Feldern und bewegten Objekten. Z vergl Physiol 20: 151–161
- Wolf E, Zerrahn-Wolf G (1935) The effect of light intensity, area, and flicker frequency on the visual

reactions of the honey bee. J Gen Physiol 18: 853-863

- Wolf R, Wittig T, Liu L, Wustmann G, Eyding D, Heisenberg M (1998) *Drosophila* mushroom bodies are dispensable for visual, tactile, and motor learning. Learn Mem 5: 166–78
- Worden BD, Papaj DR (2005) Flower choice copying in bumblebees. Biol Lett 1: 504–507
- Wüstenberg D, Gerber B, Menzel R (1998) Longbut not medium-term retention of olfactory memories in honeybees is impaired by actinomycin D and anisomycin. Eur J Neurosci 10: 2742–2745
- Yang EC, Maddess T (1997) Orientation-sensitive neurons in the brain of the honey bee (*Apis mellifera*). J Insect Physiol 43: 329–336
- Zentall TR, Galizio M, Critchfield TS (2002) Categorization, concept learning and behavior analysis: an introduction. J Exp Anal Behav 78: 237–248
- Zhang S, Srinivasan MV (1994) Prior experience enhances pattern discrimination in insect vision. Nature 368: 330–333
- Zhang SW, Bartsch K, Srinivasan MV (1996) Maze learning by honeybee. Neurobiol Learn Mem 66: 267–282
- Zhang SW, Lehrer M, Srinivasan MV (1999) Honeybee memory: navigation by associative grouping and recall of visual stimuli. Neurobiol Learn Mem 72: 180–201
- Zhang SW, Srinivasan MV, Zhu H, Wong J (2004) Grouping of visual objects by honeybees. J Exp Biol 207: 3289–3298
- Zhang S, Bock F, Si A, Tautz J, Srinivasan M (2005) Visual working memory in decision making by honey bees. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102: 5250–5255
- Zeil J, Kelber A, Voss R (1996) Structure and function of learning flights in ground-nesting bees and wasps. J Exp Biol 199: 245–252